
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  
FOR THE MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

JACKSONVILLE DIVISION 
 

CASE NO. ____________________  
 
 
SIERRA CLUB, INC.; MANASOTA-88, INC.;  
GULF RESTORATION NETWORK, INC.; and 
PEOPLE FOR PROTECTING PEACE RIVER, 
INC., 
       
  Plaintiffs,           
v. 
 
UNITED STATES ARMY CORPS OF ENGINEERS; 
and COLONEL PAUL L. GROSSKRUGER,  
Commanding District Engineer,  
U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Jacksonville District; 
  
  Defendants. 
____________________________________________/ 

 
 

COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF  
 

 Plaintiffs—Sierra Club, Inc.; Manasota-88, Inc.; Gulf Restoration Network, Inc.; and 

People for Protecting Peace River, Inc.—bring the following complaint against the United States 

Army Corps of Engineers and Colonel Paul L. Grosskruger for the issuance of a permit under 

Section 404 of the Clean Water Act which violates the substantive and procedural requirements 

of the Clean Water Act (“CWA”), 33 U.S.C. § 1344, and the National Environmental Policy Act 

(“NEPA”), 42 U.S.C. §§ 4321 et seq., and was arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, and 

otherwise not in accordance with the law in violation of the Administrative Procedure Act 

(“APA”), 5 U.S.C. §§ 553, 706(2)(A).  This complaint seeks a declaratory judgment and 

injunctive relief. 
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INTRODUCTION 

1. This action challenges the United States Army Corps of Engineers’ (“Corps”) 

issuance of a dredge and fill permit authorizing Mosaic Phosphate Company to strip mine the 

Altman Tract, a 2367 acre tract of environmentally sensitive land in Northeast Manatee County, 

for phosphate.  The Permit authorizes the destruction of 480 acres of high-quality wetlands in the 

headwaters of Horse Creek, a major tributary of the Peace River. 

2. Open pit phosphate mining has a devastating impact on the local environment.  

Huge electrically powered draglines strip away all overlying vegetation, topsoil, and overburden 

(the sandy soils that overlay the phosphate deposit) down to the phosphate containing layer.  The 

result is the utter destruction of the local natural environment from ground surface down to a 

depth of approximately 50 feet.   

3. The challenged permit would allow the strip mining of 2000+ acres of land in the 

headwaters of Horse Creek. 

4. As explained in letters from the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency to the 

Corps of Engineers, what is at risk is a watershed used as a drinking water source for 250,000 

people and one which is largely responsible for maintaining the ecological integrity of the 

Charlotte Harbor estuary.  (Letters from James D. Giattina, Director, Water Management 

Division, Region 4, USEPA to Colonel Paul L. Grosskruger, District Engineer dated July 26, 

2007 and August 23, 2007 are attached to this complaint as Exhibits A and B.) 

5. The statutory requirements set forth in the CWA, NEPA and APA mandate that 

before the issuance of a permit, the Corps must provide an opportunity for informed public 

comment, disclose relevant environmental information to the public, avoid destruction to 

wetlands to the extent practicable, analyze all reasonable and practicable alternatives to the 
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proposed action, identify and analyze the individual and cumulative environmental impacts of 

the proposed action, and make a convincing case for a finding of no significant impact. 

6. Because the Corps has failed to comply with any of these requirements, Plaintiffs 

ask the Court to (1) declare that the Corps violated its statutory and regulatory duties under the 

CWA, NEPA and APA; (2) issue a preliminary injunction requiring the Corps to rescind the 

Altman Tract Mine permit; (3) enjoin the Corps from authorizing any further mining permits 

within the Peace River watershed until it demonstrates that there will be no unacceptable adverse 

impacts in accordance with the CWA, and until an Environmental Impact Statement has been 

prepared analyzing the project’s individual and cumulative environmental impacts; and (4) 

award to the Plaintiffs their costs and expenses, including reasonable attorneys’ and expert 

witness fees.  

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

7. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to the Clean Water Act, 33 

U.S.C. §§ 1251, et seq., including § 1344(b) (application of Corps guidelines in permit 

determinations) and § 1344(c) (prohibition of discharge of dredged or fill material that will have 

an unacceptable adverse effect); the National Environmental Policy Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 4321 et 

seq.; and  the Administrative Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. § 701-706.  Additionally, jurisdiction 

exists under 28 U.S.C § 1331 (“Federal question”); 28 U.S.C § 1361 (“Action to compel an 

officer of the United States to perform his duty”); and 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201-2202 (“Creation of 

remedy” and “Further relief” provisions establishing power to issue declaratory judgments in 

cases of actual controversy). 

8. Venue is proper in this judicial district and in this Court under 28 U.S.C § 1391(e) 

because no real property is involved in this action.  Two of the Plaintiffs reside in this district. 
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The Defendant resides or maintains its District Office in Jacksonville, Florida which is located in 

this District and a substantial part of the events or omissions giving rise to the claim occurred in 

the Jacksonville District Office, including the Corps’ preparation of the Environmental 

Assessment (“EA”), the Finding of No Significant Impact (“FONSI”), and the dredge and fill 

permit which are challenged in this case. 

THE PARTIES 

9. Plaintiff Sierra Club, Inc. (“Sierra Club”) is a non-profit public benefit 

corporation with its principal place of business in San Francisco, California.  Sierra Club consists 

of members living throughout the state and around the nation.  There are approximately 30,000 

members living in the State of Florida many of whom reside in the counties that lie within the 

Peace River watershed.  The Sierra Club represents the interests of its members in state and 

federal litigation, public policy advocacy, administrative proceedings, and before state, local, and 

federal lawmakers.  The Sierra Club is very involved in advocacy regarding issues related to 

preserving wetlands and improving water quality.  All of these activities support Sierra Club’s 

mission to explore, enjoy, and protect the wild places of the earth and educate and enlist 

humanity to protect and restore the quality of the natural and human environment.  

10. Plaintiff ManaSota-88, Inc. ("ManaSota-88") is a public interest conservation and 

environmental protection organization which is a Florida not-for-profit corporation and a citizen 

of the State of Florida.  ManaSota-88’s principal place of business is located in Nokomis, 

Florida.  The corporate purposes of ManaSota-88 include the protection and preservation of 

water quality and wildlife habitat in Manatee and Sarasota Counties and, therefore, challenging 

the Corps’s issuance of the Altman mine permit falls within ManaSota-88's general scope of 

interest and activity.   
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11. The Gulf Restoration Network (“GRN”) is a gulf-wide network of conservation 

and community groups that works to protect and restore the Gulf of Mexico and the natural 

systems that feed and sustain the Gulf of Mexico.  GRN has member groups and individual 

members in all five gulf coastal states including Florida.  GRN’s principal place of business is in 

New Orleans, Louisiana.  GRN also maintains a Florida Office in Ridge Manor, Florida.  It uses 

litigation, public education and outreach, grassroots and direct lobbying, research and policy 

analysis, and coalition and community outreach to protect the natural systems and human 

communities of the Gulf of Mexico.  In Florida, GRN works to protect wetlands and river 

systems that are essential to healthy watersheds and estuaries along the gulf coast of Florida.   

12. Members and staff of Sierra Club, Manasota-88 and GRN frequently use and 

enjoy the waters of the Peace River and its tributaries and the waters of the Charlotte Harbor 

estuary.  These waters provide an environment for a variety activities which members of the 

Sierra Club, ManaSota-88 and GRN engage in, including, but not limited to, wading, walking, 

swimming, canoeing, sailing, sport boating, wildlife observation, photography, personal and 

commercial research, and sport fishing. 

13. Phosphate mining has contributed significantly to the decreased stream flow in 

the Peace River which has declined by 20% since 1963.  The challenged permit would allow the 

mining of an additional 2000+ acres of land in the headwaters of Horse Creek, a major tributary 

of the Peace.  Mining of the Altman Tract will reduce stream flow in Horse Creek to some 

extent.  The decline in freshwater flow is a primary cause for a the loss of approximately 20 fish 

species in the Peace River – species which had been abundant 20 years ago.   

14. The Peace River is the major freshwater source for the Charlotte Harbor estuary 

which provides critical habitat for a variety of wildlife including endangered and threatened 



 6

species.  It has been designated as an Outstanding Water and an Aquatic Preserve of the State of 

Florida and in 1995 it became the sixth estuary to be selected an Estuary of National Significance 

by the United States Environmental Protection Agency.  

15. The reduction in flow already experienced by the Peace River has caused a shift 

upstream of the salinity distribution in Charlotte Harbor.  Loss of the remaining narrow estuarine 

habitat in the tidal Peace River would be detrimental to the continued propagation of many of the 

fish species found in the tidal Peace River and Charlotte Harbor.  Predicted long term habitat 

losses caused by cumulative losses from existing and proposed phosphate mines will also result 

in a declining long-term trend for productivity and abundances of estuarine resources dependent 

on this nursery area.  

16. The adverse environmental effects caused by loss of downstream flows from the 

Peace River and the destruction of the wetlands in the headwaters of its tributaries adversely 

affect the Plaintiffs’ members’ use and enjoyment of the Peace River and the Charlotte Harbor 

estuary. 

17. People for Protecting Peace River, Inc. (“3PR”) is a Florida not-for-profit 

corporation with its principal place of business in Wachula, Florida.  3PR was originally 

incorporated under the name Desoto Citizens Against Pollution, Inc. to "promote and protect the 

health and safety of the general public and the environment, and to increase public awareness of 

potential environmental hazards and to discourage activities that may be hazardous to public 

health or the environment."  As the threat of phosphate mining is mainly in Hardee County, 

DCAP briefly changed its name to HARDCAP and then, in 2007 changed its name to People for 

Protecting Peace River, Inc. reflecting the regional character of the threat to the Peace River 
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watershed, and emphasizing the affirmative nature of their mission.  Membership is mainly 

drawn from communities of Bowling Green, Wauchula, and Lily in Hardee County.   

18. Members of 3PR use the Peace River for recreational purposes including fishing, 

swimming, canoeing, and camping.  Other members own property, reside and have businesses on 

Horse Creek which has begun to show signs of degradation following the mine expansions in the 

headwaters of the Horse Creek watershed.    

19. Each of the Plaintiffs files this action on its own behalf and on behalf of its 

members in an effort to protect their health, economic, recreational, aesthetic, scientific and 

conservation interests in the waters and lands of the Peace River basin and the Charlotte Harbor 

estuary.  

20. Plaintiffs Sierra Club, Manasota-88, and 3PR (as “HARDCAP”) submitted 

comments in response to the proposed mining application expressing their concerns associated 

with mining the Altman Tract and have actively sought to be involved in the Corps’ decision 

making process.  

21. The above described interests of Plaintiffs and their respective members will be 

adversely affected and irreparably injured by Defendants’ issuance of the Altman mine permit 

unless the relief prayed for herein is granted. 

22. Defendant United States Army Corps of Engineers is the federal agency charged 

with administering permits under § 404 of the Clean Water Act for discharge of dredged or fill 

material into the waters of the United States.  The Corps is headquartered in Washington, D.C.  

23. Defendant Colonel Paul L. Grosskruger is the District Engineer in charge of the 

Jacksonville District office of the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers in Jacksonville, Florida and is 

designated to act for the Secretary of the Army.  The Jacksonville District office is responsible 
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for issuing permits for the discharges of dredged and fill material in Florida under Section 404 of 

the Clean Water Act, including the proposed discharges at issue in this case.  

STATUTORY AND REGULATORY BACKGROUND 

CLEAN WATER ACT 

24. The Clean Water Act was enacted by Congress in 1972 to “restore and maintain 

the chemical, physical, and biological integrity of the nation’s waters.”  33 U.S.C § 1251(a).  To 

achieve this goal, section 404 of the CWA prohibits the discharge of any pollutant, including 

dredged spoil or other fill material, into navigable waters unless authorized by a permit.  Id. § 

1344. 

25. The Corps oversees the § 404 permit process and must comply with guidelines 

promulgated by the EPA, which are incorporated into the Corps’ own regulations.  Id. § 

1344(b)(1); 33 C.R.F. §§ 320.4(b)(4), 325.2(a)(6).  “The underlying intent behind the . . . 

[g]uidelines is that dredged or fill material should not be discharged if it will result in an 

unacceptable impact on the aquatic ecosystem.”  40 C.F.R. § 230.1(c). 

26. In general, the Corps’ guidelines provide that no discharge of dredged or fill 

material shall be permitted: (1) if there is a practicable alternative to the proposed discharge; (2) 

if the discharge causes or contributes to violations of applicable state water quality standards; (3) 

if the discharge will cause or contribute to significant degradation of the environment; and (4) 

unless all appropriate steps have been taken to minimize potential adverse impacts.  40 C.F.R. § 

230.10.  In addition, the Corps’ regulations require that destruction of wetlands is to be avoided 

to the extent practicable.  33 C.F.R. § 320.4(r). 
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27. Corps guidelines also provide that “practicable alternatives” include “not 

discharging into the waters of the U.S. or discharging into an alternative aquatic site with 

potentially less damaging consequences.”  40 C.F.R. §§ 230.5(c), 230.10(a). 

NATIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY ACT 

28. NEPA is a procedural statute requiring agencies to 1) examine environmental 

impacts by identifying and evaluating adverse environmental effects of a proposed action and 2) 

broadly disseminate relevant environmental information for public comment so that the general 

public may actively participate in the decision-making process. 

29. NEPA requires federal agencies to prepare a detailed Environmental Impact 

Statement (“EIS”) on every proposal for a major federal action which will or may significantly 

affect the quality of the human environment.  42 U.S.C. § 4332(2)(C).   

30. The Council on Environmental Quality (“CEQ”), created by Congress to 

implement NEPA, has promulgated detailed regulations to assist federal agencies in complying 

with NEPA.  40 C.F.R. § 1500.3.  CEQ regulations require the Corps to prepare an 

Environmental Assessment (“EA”) to determine whether or not to prepare an EIS for a permit 

issued under § 404 of the CWA.  40 C.F.R. §§ 1501.3-1501.4; 33 C.F.R. 230.7.  An 

Environmental Assessment is a “concise public document” containing the evidence and agency’s 

analysis for its determination of whether an EIS is required.  40 C.F.R. § 1501.4.  

31. NEPA requires the Corps to consider the direct and indirect effects of its actions, 

and the cumulative impacts of past, present and reasonably foreseeable future actions, on the 

environment.  40 C.F.R. §§ 1508.25(c).  Also, NEPA requires the Corps to use “accurate 

scientific analysis” and “high quality” information in analyzing a proposed action.  40 C.F.R. §§ 
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1500.1(b).  Thus, the Corps must disclose scientific debate and convincingly explain why they 

adopted one view over another.  40 C.F.R. §§ 1502.24. 

32. If after examining the environmental impacts in its EA, the agency properly 

concludes that the action will not have a significant effect on the human environment, it may 

issue a Finding of No Significant Impact (“FONSI”) and is not required to prepare an EIS.  40 

C.F.R. § 1501.4(e).   

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEDURE ACT 

33. The Administrative Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. §§ 701-06, provides for judicial 

review of agency actions such as those at issue here.  A reviewing court shall hold unlawful and 

set aside the Corps’ actions, findings and conclusions found to be arbitrary, capricious, an abuse 

of discretion, or otherwise not in accordance with law.  5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A).  In order to satisfy 

this standard, the Corps must 1) accurately identified the relevant environmental concerns; 2) 

take a ‘hard look’ at the environmental concerns in preparing the EA; and 3) if it issues an EA, 

make a convincing case for a finding of no significant impact on the environment. 

FACTUAL/PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND 

34. The original permit to mine the Altman Tract was submitted by Mosaic Phosphate 

(then known as IMC Phosphate) to the Corps and the Florida Department of Environmental 

Protection (“FDEP”) in October, 2000.  A draft permit with a FDEP Notice of Intent to Issue was 

published in June 2002.  The draft permit allowed Mosaic to mine 686 acres of the 847 acres of 

jurisdictional wetlands on the site. 

35. Charlotte County petitioned for a formal administrative hearing in order to 

challenge the propriety of FDEP’s issuance of the permit.   


